

### Review

# Should we listen to our clock to prevent type 2 diabetes mellitus?



### Ramanujam Karthikeyan<sup>a</sup>, Ganapathy Marimuthu<sup>a,\*</sup>, David Warren Spence<sup>b</sup>, Seithikurippu R. Pandi-Perumal<sup>c</sup>, Ahmed S. BaHammam<sup>d</sup>, Gregory M. Brown<sup>e</sup>, Daniel P. Cardinali<sup>f</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Animal Behaviour, School of Biological Sciences, Madurai Kamaraj University, Madurai 625 021, Tamil Nadu, India

<sup>b</sup> Independent Researcher,652 Dufferin Street, Toronto, ON M6K 2B4, Canada

<sup>c</sup> Center for Healthful Behavior Change (CHBC), Division of Health and Behavior, Department of Population Health, New York University Medical Center, Clinical & Translational Research Institute, New York, NY 10016, USA

<sup>d</sup> University Sleep Disorders Center, College of Medicine, National Plan for Science and Technology, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

<sup>e</sup> Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, University of Toronto, 100 Stokes St., Toronto, ON M6J 1H4, Canada <sup>f</sup> Department of Teaching and Research, Faculty of Medical Sciences, Pontificia Universidad Católica Argentina, Buenos Aires, 1107, Argentina

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 14 November 2013 Received in revised form 25 May 2014 Accepted 31 July 2014 Available online 12 August 2014

Keywords: Type 2 diabetes mellitus Clock genes Circadian rhythms Metabolism Melatonin.

#### ABSTRACT

The circadian clock drives a number of metabolic processes including energy intake, storage and utilization coupled with the sleep/wake cycles. Globally, the increasing prevalence of type 2 diabetes (T2DM) has become a significant international public health concern. In view of the heavy societal burden caused by diabetes, and further, to reduce its growing incidence, it is clearly essential to understand the causes of this disease and to devise more effective strategies for its treatment. Although many factors cause T2DM, this article centers on the role of circadian regulation of metabolism. The correlation between the increased occurrence of T2DM and the ubiquity of modern social pressures such as 24/7 lifestyles as well as nocturnal lighting conditions point strongly to the hypothesis that malfunctioning of circadian controls may be involved in the etiology of the illness. Nocturnal light exposure, unusual timing of food, irregular sleep/wake schedules and traveling between different time zones are some of the factors responsible for improper entrainment of the clock. Recent reports have proposed that strengthening of circadian clock functioning and proper timing of food intake could stabilize glucose homeostasis. This strategy thus represents a chronotherapeutic option for non-pharmaceutical intervention in treating T2DM patients.

© 2014 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.

E-mail addresses: emailboxgm@gmail.com, mailbox\_gm@rediffmail.com (G. Marimuthu).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2014.07.029

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Department of Animal Behaviour, School of Biological Sciences, Madurai Kamaraj University, Madurai 625 021, Tamil Nadu, India. Tel.: +91 452 2459116(O)/+91 9791696463(M); fax: +91 452 2459181.

<sup>0168-8227/ © 2014</sup> Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	183
2.	Clock genes are involved in maintaining circadian rhythms in cells	183
3.	Circadian disruption results in impaired glucose metabolism	183
4.	Experimental circadian disruption causes a prediabetes state	184
5.	Importance of timing of food in T2DM	185
6.	Perturbed circadian rhythm contributes to obesity	185
7.	Genetic variant association studies	185
8.	Impaired clock gene expression in T2DM	185
9.	The relationship of insulin with melatonin	186
10.	Consideration of clock function in the treatment of T2DM	186
11.	A chronobiological approach to T2DM treatment	186
12.	Conclusions	187
	References	187

#### 1. Introduction

Globally the prevalence of diabetes has progressed at an alarming rate and has become a significant international public health concern. According to the International Diabetes Federation, 382 million people (8.3%) worldwide currently have diabetes. Further, this number is expected to increase to 592 million, implying that there will be around a 50% increase in diabetes by 2035 [1]. In 2012, the worldwide mortality rate associated with diabetes was 4.8 million people, while the associated level of expenditures to treat diabetes and its related complications amounted to 471 billion US dollars [2]. In view of the heavy societal burden caused by diabetes, and further, to reduce its growing international prevalence, it is essential to understand the causes of this disease and to devise more effective strategies for its prevention and treatment.

This article focuses mainly on type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) since it constitutes up to 90% of the diabetes population. A number of factors play an unequivocal role for increasing the risk of developing T2DM. These factors include pancreatic  $\beta$  cell dysfunction, abnormal adipogenesis and absence of adequate insulin responsiveness [3], genetic susceptibility [4], excessive food consumption and/or high calorie food intake [5] and a sedentary life style [6-8]. In addition to these predisposing factors there is now an increasing amount of evidence that disruption of circadian timing mechanisms contributes to the development of T2DM [9-13]. Various types of circadian disturbances have been correlated with the onset of T2DM including disruption of the timing of bodily functions that are normally synchronized [9,12,13], improper timing of food intake [14], dampened clock gene expression and polymorphisms [15-17], sleep loss/ disturbance [6,18-20] and impairments to the melatonin signaling pathway [21,22].

### 2. Clock genes are involved in maintaining circadian rhythms in cells

Circadian rhythms in organisms are driven by three components including input factors (zeitgebers), the molecular clock network, and the generation of rhythmic output. Zeitgebers

(time cues) set the clock for about a 24 h period and the quality of the entrainment depends on its strength. At the cellular level, clock genes are involved in the regulation of circadian rhythm. Mutational studies of clock genes have aided in the understanding of their function in the maintenance of circadian rhythm and other physiological processes, including metabolism. Their expression is controlled by environmental zeitgebers (such as light/dark cycles/food/social cues). The circadian clock system consists of transcription-translation loops comprising clock gene products and occurs once in a day or about 24 h. Advances and delays in the circadian period are regulated by the modification of mRNA and protein concentration of clock genes [23]. So far, many clock genes involved in the feedback loop have been identified in humans. These include Clock (Circadian locomotor output cycles protein kaput), Npas2 (Neuronal PAS domain protein2), Bmal1 (Brain and muscle ARNT-like protein), Per1 (Period), Per2, Per3, Cry1 (Cryptochrome), Cry2, Rev-Erbs (Reverse erythroblastosis virus  $\alpha/\beta$ ), Rors (Retinoid-related orphan receptors  $\alpha/\beta/\gamma$ ) and CkI (Casein kinase). CLOCK and BMAL1 form a heterodimer and then bind to E-box sequence and promote the transcription of three Per genes (Per1, Per2 and Per3), two cryptochrome genes, (Cry1 and Cry2) Ror $\alpha$  and Rev-Erb $\alpha$  [24]. PER and CRY bind together to form a complex and this dimer blocks the transcription process of CLOCK and BMAL1, thus completing the negative limb of the loop. PER and CRY proteins are phosphorylated by CkIe and CkIo. This phosphorylation process and degradation of PERs can be considered as rate limiting steps in the regulation of circadian periodicity [25]. Moreover, REV-ERB $\alpha$  is a nuclear-receptor protein which suppresses Bmal1 transcription. The function of Clock has been replaced by Npas2 in the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) but peripheral clocks require CLOCK for their normal time keeping function [26]. Although many of the functions of clock genes have been elucidated, their molecular mechanism remains complex and requires further exploration.

### 3. Circadian disruption results in impaired glucose metabolism

Among the numerous physiological functions which are governed by the circadian apparatus is glucose metabolism

Table 1 – Clock gene mutations showing aberrant phenotypes similar to diabetes.				
Clock gene	Metabolic abnormalities	References		
Clock	Hyperleptinemia, hyperlipidemia, hyperglycemia, hypoinsulinemia, attenuated feeding rhythm, decreased level of polypeptides associated with energy balance, impaired gluconeogenesis, dampened glucose tolerance, reduced pancreatic cell size, delayed growth and development, low expression of genes involved in insulin signaling and glucose response	[32,33,35]		
Bmal1	Impaired glucose metabolism, impaired gluconeogenesis, hypoglycemic during resting phase, glucose intolerance, altered expression in glucose metabolic genes, adipocytes differentiation, adipogenesis, hypoinsulinemia, reduced pancreatic cell size, delayed growth and development, loss in insulin rhythm, increased levels of triglycerides, fatty acids, cholesterol	[10,11,33,35,36,40]		
Per2	Absence of glucocorticoid rhythm, obesity, lack of rhythmic feeding, altered expression of neuropeptides responsible for appetite regulation, high level of corticosterone	[34]		
Cry1/Cry2	Glucose intolerance, high level of corticosterone	[41]		
Rev-erb $\alpha$ /Rev-erb $\beta$	Hepatic steatosis, hyperlipidemia, altered lipid metabolism	[38,39]		
Per3	Adipogenesis, altered body mass and composition	[37,42]		

[10,27]. It is now known that the distribution of glucose to all parts of the body is organized by the molecular clock present in liver [11]. Half of the nuclear receptors identified in liver and adipocytes exhibit a 24 h periodicity [5,28]. Circadian regulatory mechanisms utilize both neural and humoral communication to exert close control over insulin, leptin and plasma glucose levels [29]. Rats in which the SCN, where the central circadian pacemaker resides, has been lesioned show abnormalities in glucose metabolism and insulin function [30,31]. Direct evidence of the association between circadian clock disruptions and T2DM has been provided by studies in mice in which linkages between clock gene mutations and diabetes states have been examined [10,11,32-39] (Table 1). It has been demonstrated that factors associated with glucose optimization and appetite control are impaired in circadian clock mutant mice [32,33,35].

Deletion of Rev-erb $\alpha/\beta$  in mice has been shown to result in hepatic steatosis, abnormal lipid metabolism, and high circulating glucose and triglyceride levels [38,39]. High circulating levels of triglycerides, free fatty acids and cholesterol have also been reported in mice devoid of Bmal1 [36]. Per2 mutant mice have been shown to exhibit several abnormal profiles including absence of rhythmicity in plasma glucocorticoid levels, obesity and low levels of neuropeptides involved in appetite regulation [34]. Hence, the core clock gene, Per2, is essential for the maintenance of the glucocorticoid pathway and its expression significantly alters glucose metabolism [43]. It has also been shown that the presence of clock gene mutations promotes delays in pancreatic gene expression, which in turn affects the regulation of the growth, development and survival of insulin cells and thus of the glucose signaling pathway [35]. In one study Clock mutant mice showed lack of rhythmicity in the action of insulin, a state which was reversible once the clock protein was reintroduced [10]. Additional confirmatory evidence of circadian control over metabolic activity was provided by a study of mice in which the Bmal1 gene was knocked specifically in the pancreas. This produced an animal model which replicated T2DM in that blood glucose levels were found to be elevated throughout the 24-h cycle [35].

In mice, lipid storage and synthesis occurs during the feeding/wakefulness cycle whereas during the fasting/rest

cycle, the metabolic mode converts to producing glucose. Similarly, insulin responsiveness and glucose levels undergo predictable variations which closely follow the rest/fasting and feeding/wakefulness cycles [10]. Abnormal sleep times and poor sleep quality are associated with low levels of glucose tolerance in humans, further suggesting that sleep disturbance could be a major contributing factor to the development of diabetes [5,19,44]. The maintenance of glucose levels, which is critical for survival, depends on the close synchronization of key functions in the glucose cycle. Taken together, the accumulated experimental evidence supports the hypothesis that in the absence of circadian regulation, the ensuing desynchrony could induce a metabolic disorder which, if sustained, could ultimately cause T2DM [45].

# 4. Experimental circadian disruption causes a prediabetes state

Stimulation of circadian disruption in diabetes-prone human islet amyloid polypeptide transgenic rats has been shown to produce a rapid manifestation of T2DM. In one study diabetes prone genetically engineered rats were maintained in LL and jet lag like conditions (6 h phase advance). This treatment led to circadian disruption, which was confirmed by aberrations in the animals' locomotor behavior and melatonin secretion. This experimental treatment produced metabolic impairments in glucose-triggered insulin synthesis, increased beta cell apoptosis, and a consequent decrease in beta cell population resembling diabetes [13]. Similar findings were obtained in a study of 10 humans subjected to a forced desynchronization protocol for a period of 28 h. The treatment produced circadian misalignment in all subjects, with three individuals exhibiting a disturbed glucose metabolism which resembled diabetes [12]. Also, all subjects showed a decreased concentration of leptin, a reversal of cortisol rhythm and high amounts of glucose (postprandial) even in the presence of increased insulin. Reduced levels of leptin could potentially produce an abnormal appetite and energy utilization resulting in diabetes and obesity. Additionally, it has been suggested that increased levels of cortisol late in the day, i.e., during the end of wakefulness, are a possible potentiating factor for

insulin resistance and hyperglycemia [10]. These findings thus suggest that misalignment of clock functions may accelerate the development of T2DM.

#### 5. Importance of timing of food in T2DM

Important metabolic processes are dictated by the timing of food intake. Indeed, a peripheral oscillator activity, a mechanism by which circadian cycles are regulated in peripheral tissues, closely controls temporal processes in liver and pancreas [46]. Hormones involved in food metabolism showed rhythmic fluctuations and their secretion altered according to the availability of food [47]. Disruptions of the timing of food intake have been shown to promote obesity and impaired glucose metabolism in mice, thus supporting suggestions that clock mechanisms and T2DM are related [14,32,48]. Experimental restriction of feeding cycles has been found to alter clock gene expression in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats more effectively than in controls [48]. Blood glucose level is directly related to the food intake in streptozotocin-induced diabetes, thus indicating that the circadian clock system is weakly coordinated in diabetes. Conversely, restrictions in the feeding cycle can improve glucose metabolism and motor regulation in mice in which a metabolic syndrome had been induced [49]. In one study mice fed during the daytime accumulated more body mass than the mice fed during the night time, additionally underscoring the importance of timing factors in food intake in maintaining normal glucose and motor functioning [14]. In Clock mutant mice, the time of feeding occurred both during light and dark phase whereas food intake is more concentrated towards dark phase in wildtype mice [32]. Lack of rhythmic feeding has been reported in Per2 mutant mice [34].

Night light exposure, even at low levels, has been reported to alter food timing and body mass accumulation in mice, thus suggesting that artificial lighting may be an important contributing factor to the increased prevalence of metabolic disorders [27,50]. It was speculated that peripheral clocks could be entrained by manipulating the timing of food administration, and that this could be accomplished without the participation of the SCN [46]. Taken together, all of the cited evidence suggests that the administration of food at inappropriate times may disrupt the metabolic profile, thus creating a desynchronized physiological state which is causally linked to the development of T2DM.

### 6. Perturbed circadian rhythm contributes to obesity

Many studies have demonstrated that a link exists between perturbation of circadian rhythms and obesity. Body mass and composition in SCN-lesioned mice are altered, with more fat tissue accumulated than in the sham operated mice [31]. Highcalorie food intake in mice [51] and rats [52] has been shown to disrupt circadian organization, further indicating that clock activity and metabolic processes are closely linked. Also, mice that are fed high fat diets have been shown to develop obesity and dampened glucose tolerance, when these markers are measured in altered lighting conditions [51]. Moreover, the circadian period of fat tissue is different from the circadian period of sleep/wake cycle of animal. These findings thus indicate that an internal desynchronization of the time keeping organization between master pacemaker (SCN) and peripheral oscillator (adipocytes) may play a central role in reduced glucose tolerance [10,50]. The feeding of Clock mutant mice with a high calorie diet was found to produce an accumulation of body mass and energy to a level about twice that of controls [32]. Mice which totally lack Per3 have an altered body mass and body composition [37]. Additionally, compared to normal wild mice controls, mice which lack the Per3 accumulate more adipose tissue [42]. The constant expression of Per3 has been found to inhibit adipogenesis in mesenchymal stem cells whereas Per3 removal enhanced the process, thus supporting the inference that adipogenesis is regulated by circadian clock activity [37]. It is well-established that obese individuals are more susceptible to T2DM [53,54].

#### 7. Genetic variant association studies

The possible association between clock gene polymorphisms and T2DM has been explored in several investigations in humans. In one study a polymorphic allele was identified in CRY2 which correlated with T2DM [55]. Two BMAL1 variants have been found to be associated with diabetes and hypertension in a British population [56]. Circadian clock variants have been linked to metabolic syndrome and obesity affected individuals [57,58]. For example, in a recent study which sought to examine the existence of Per3 variants in patients with T2DM we reported that, compared to the group without diabetes, the frequency of occurrence of the five repeat allele of Per3 among affected patients was greater, and that of the four repeat allele less [17]. Circadian clock variants have also been found to correlate with body mass index (BMI) [59], and with weight loss, sleep duration and total plasma cholesterol in obese Caucasian individuals [60]. Although the number of genetic association studies remains limited their findings are suggestive that clock gene variations are involved in the onset of T2DM.

#### 8. Impaired clock gene expression in T2DM

Several studies demonstrate associations between genetic markers of circadian regulation and metabolic disruption. High fat diet intake in rats alters the 24 h rhythmic expression of clock genes, thus implicating the existence of an association between glucose and time keeping mechanisms [52]. In an animal model of diabetes, restricted food cycles were found to alter clock gene expression under cycling environmental light/dark (LD) conditions [61]. Reversing the LD conditions resulted in significant changes in behavioral activity in control rats whereas no shift was observed in rats with diabetes [62]. LD reversal produced larger variations in blood glucose levels of rats with diabetes than in controls. Both observations suggest that the changes in behavior and insulin levels are due to misalignment of clock functioning as a result of LD changes [62]. In T2DM patients, clock gene expression has been found to be directly associated with fasting glucose levels as well as with insulin mRNA and protein concentration [63]. Additionally, markedly reduced levels of clock transcripts have been reported in T2DM patients [15,16,63]. Further, in an in vitro model mimicking pathogenetic conditions, the PER3 mRNA level was reduced in human islets exposed to a high glucose concentration [64]. The current evidence thus suggests that these processes have a reciprocal relationship since an abnormal functioning of metabolism promotes low expression of clock genes while an impaired clock functioning can disrupt metabolic activity. The findings thus underscore the importance of circadian regulation for normal metabolic functioning, and further, that clock gene expression appears to be disturbed in T2DM.

#### 9. The relationship of insulin with melatonin

Melatonin plays a vital role in the regulation of many body functions including circadian rhythm, aging, tumor growth, mood behavior, immunity, reproduction and sleep [65]. Information in the form of light signaling is transduced by the retinal cells and is further transmitted to the pineal gland via the SCN. Melatonin peaks during the night time hours but is undetectable during the light phase. Melatonin synthesis, which is influenced by the presence of light, thus exhibits a circadian pattern. Dusk promotes the onset of melatonin whereas dawn suppresses the secretion. The secretion of melatonin is regulated by circadian clock whereas circadian clock is entrained by environmental zeitgebers [66]. When individuals were exposed to artificial light before sleep time, their melatonin secretion levels were suppressed [67]. Proper light intensity entrains the clock whereas inadequate light or exposure to light at unusual times of the night can inhibit the secretion of melatonin [68].

Several lines of evidence point to the conclusion that the reported variations in insulin sensitivity in T2DM patients are the result of circadian influences and are independent of glucose concentration, insulin metabolism, rest/activity cycles or food intake [10,69,70]. The possibility that a relationship might exist between melatonin and T2DM is supported by findings that insulin secretion is inversely proportional to plasma melatonin concentration [22]. It is known that melatonin can alter insulin function [71] and that, compared to normal healthy individuals, T2DM patients have lower circulating levels of melatonin [72]. In vitro co-incubation of pancreatic cells with melatonin has been shown to inhibit the glucose-mediated release of insulin, additionally supporting the conclusion that melatonin activity plays a role in the function of insulin [22]. Further, circadian disruption has been shown to alter melatonin secretion and to cause dysfunctions in pancreatic β cells. Genetic association studies which have shown that mutations in the melatonin receptor gene are correlated with an increased susceptibility to T2DM [21,73,74]. Circadian disruption may lead to abnormal phasing and synthesis of melatonin, a finding which has been reported in night shift workers [75,76]. It could be postulated that alteration of phase, amplitude and synthesis of melatonin could lead to impaired glucose metabolism in circadian

disrupted individuals [21]. Suppression of melatonin secretion by nocturnal light exposure could be a crucial factor for T2DM development [27]. Taken together, multiple sources of evidence support the conclusion that melatonin can alter the activity of pancreatic cells, activity which is essential for preventing the development of a diabetes state.

# 10. Consideration of clock function in the treatment of T2DM

An increasing number of studies have shown that manipulation of circadian mechanisms may be helpful for treating a number of metabolic disorders including T2DM. In one study administration of metformin in mice accelerated the degradation of the *Per2* gene, thus inducing a phase advance in the circadian clock in peripheral tissues in wild-type mice but not in AMPK  $\alpha$ 2 mutant mice [77]. Also, metformin has been found to reduce the period length of rat-1 fibroblasts by 1 h. It seems that metformin has an unknown function related to circadian rhythms.

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$  (PPAR $\gamma$ ), which belongs to a group of nuclear receptors, is a key component in the integration of both circadian and metabolic processes, and additionally has a role in the regulation of adipogenesis [78]. Insulin function has been improved by a new group of anti-diabetes drugs including thiazolidinediones [78] that are targeted to the PPAR $\gamma$ . It has been suggested that the development of drugs which coordinate processes of the circadian clock system as a means to regulate glucose metabolism represents a new frontier for the management of T2DM [5].

# 11. A chronobiological approach to T2DM treatment

A number of studies have now shown that environmental factors have pronounced effects on metabolism. Shift work, insufficient sunlight exposure, sleep disturbances, late night eating and nocturnal light exposure are all known to produce circadian clock disruption [12,79,80]. Various surveys have documented the increased prevalence of T2DM in night/shift workers. This category of employees, whose work involves irregular schedules and forced exposure to nocturnal lighting, show significant disruptions in sleep architecture and other markers of circadian synchronization [81].

Artificial light exposure has been found to enhance fat tissue accumulation in mice, thus indicating that the system does not adjust to the environmental change [10]. This metabolic non-responsiveness in turn creates a corresponding lack of responsiveness by cells to insulin. The consequence of these effects is that food intake and/or increased levels of glucose may not be assimilated into cells. In one case study, nocturnal light exposure was found to change the expression of enzymatic genes associated with glucose metabolism [82]. These findings point to the possibility that nocturnal lighting, shift work, jet travel, and other stressors in contemporary "24/ 7" societies may be contributors to clock dysfunction, and this in turn may account for the increasing worldwide prevalence of T2DM. The findings also support the suggestion that the goal of maintaining metabolic health would be aided if individuals were to develop a greater awareness of the importance of the timing of food intake, of daytime activity, and of exposure to sunlight.

In this respect, the successful management of T2DM may require an ideal drug that besides antagonizing the triggers of T2DM also corrects the disturbed circadian rhythm. Melatonin is an interesting chronotherapeutic option which can reset the phase and amplitude of circadian rhythms [83-85]. As has been shown in animal models of diabetes and obesity, melatonin also possesses cytoprotective properties which may prevent a number of unwanted effects [86,87]. Several controlled trials have implied that melatonin can be given for treating metabolic and cardiovascular comorbidities in T2DM [88–93]. At an early stage of T2DM treatment nonpharmacological approaches such as lifestyle modification, low fat diet and exercise are recommended. Patients who are refractory to these are treated with medications that can have significant undesired effects. Compared to many pharmaceutical agents melatonin has a strong safety profile and limited toxicity effects [94]. Furthermore, it is generally very well tolerated, e.g., very high melatonin doses (300 mg/day) have been given for up to 2 years for patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and have been found to be safe [95].

Therefore the suggested regimen of exogenous melatonin administration in combination with the strategically timed application of bright light appears to be justified for normalizing melatonin amplitude and synchronizing endogenous circadian rhythms in the metabolic syndrome [52]. Considering the respective phase response curves of melatonin and light therapy, their time of administration is critical. Administration of both bright light in the morning time and melatonin before bed time could be an ideal treatment for the restoration of circadian rhythm in T2DM patients.

#### 12. Conclusions

A growing body of experimental and clinical evidence supports the conclusion that impairment of clock functions can affect metabolic activities and cause T2DM, and, by extension, the survival of an organism (Fig. 1). This can be seen in the high mortality rate associated with T2DM in the human population [2]. From a public health perspective, it is essential that measures to reduce this risk should be advocated. The proper timing of food intake, establishing a regular schedule of sleep/wake activities, and avoiding nocturnal light exposure and activity are practical steps that can be performed by individuals for lowering the risk of developing metabolic disorders such as T2DM. In addition, melatonin can be a useful add-on approach in the chronobiological treatment of T2DM.

There is a need to support scientific efforts aimed at elucidating the mechanisms by which clock functions create the conditions associated with the development of T2DM. It is evident that the mechanism by which the human biological clock adapts and evolves under artificial lighting condition needs to be elucidated [51]. Additional evidence regarding these interactions could further aid in the development



Fig. 1 – Proposed model of circadian and metabolic factors responsible for T2DM.

of therapies for disrupted timing mechanisms and their sequelae. In addition effort should be directed to educate world populations in dealing with the stressors of modern industrialized societies. Exactly how the challenge of this task can be met remains an enormous unresolved public health issue [2]. The circadian time keeping system is a critical interface between cellular processes and the external world. Enabling this system to operate normally and reduce metabolic disorders, including T2DM, is a relevant public health objective. "Listening to our clock" offers the potential to normalize glucose metabolism and may reduce the prevalence of T2DM worldwide.

#### **Conflict of interest**

All authors declare that they have no proprietary, financial, professional, nor any other personal interest of any nature or kind in any product or services and/or company that could be construed or considered to be a potential conflict of interest that might have influenced the views expressed in this manuscript.

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Guariguata L, Whiting DR, Hambleton I, Beagley J, Linnenkamp U, Shaw JE. Global estimates of diabetes prevalence in adults for 2013 and projections for 2035 for the IDF Diabetes Atlas. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2014;103(2):137–49.
- [2] Zhang P, Zhang X, Brown J, Vistisen D, Sicree R, Shaw J, et al. Global healthcare expenditure on diabetes for 2010 and 2030. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2010;87:293–301.

- [3] Lin Y, Sun Z. Current views on type 2 diabetes. J Endocrinol 2010;204:1–11.
- [4] Das SK, Elbein SC. The genetic basis of type 2 diabetes. Cell Sci 2006;2:100–31.
- [5] Gangwisch JE, Heymsfield SB, Boden-Albala B, Buijs RM, Kreier F, Pickering TG, et al. Sleep duration as a risk factor for diabetes incidence in a large U.S. sample. Sleep 2007;30:1667–73.
- [6] Maury E, Ramsey KM, Bass J. Circadian rhythms and metabolic syndrome: from experimental genetics to human disease. Circ Res 2010;106:447–62.
- [7] Bennett PH, Burch TA, Miller M. Diabetes mellitus in American (pima) Indians. Lancet 1971;2:125–8.
- [8] Zimmet P, Arblaster M, Thoma K. The effect of westernization on native populations. Studies on a Micronesian community with a high diabetes prevalence. Aust N Z J Med 1978;8:141–6.
- [9] Bass J, Takahashi JS. Circadian integration of metabolism and energetics. Science 2010;330:1349–54.
- [10] Shi SQ, Ansari TS, McGuinness OP, Wasserman DH, Johnson CH. Circadian disruption leads to insulin resistance and obesity. Curr Biol 2013;23:372–81.
- [11] Lamia KA, Storch KF, Weitz CJ. Physiological significance of a peripheral tissue circadian clock. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105:15172–7.
- [12] Scheer FA, Hilton MF, Mantzoros CS, Shea SA. Adverse metabolic and cardiovascular consequences of circadian misalignment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:4453–8.
- [13] Gale JE, Cox HI, Qian J, Block GD, Colwell CS, Matveyenko AV. Disruption of circadian rhythms accelerates development of diabetes through pancreatic beta-cell loss and dysfunction. J Biol Rhythms 2011;26:423–33.
- [14] Arble DM, Bass J, Laposky AD, Vitaterna MH, Turek FW. Circadian timing of food intake contributes to weight gain. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2009;17:2100–2.
- [15] Ando H, Takamura T, Matsuzawa-Nagata N, Shima KR, Eto T, Misu H, et al. Clock gene expression in peripheral leucocytes of patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia 2009;52:329–35.
- [16] Pappa KI, Gazouli M, Anastasiou E, Iliodromiti Z, Antsaklis A, Anagnou NP. Circadian clock gene expression is impaired in gestational diabetes mellitus. Gynecol Endocrinol 2013;29:331–5.
- [17] Karthikeyan R, Marimuthu G, Sooriyakumar M, BaHammam AS, Spence DW, Pandi-Perumal SR, et al. Per3 length polymorphism in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Horm Mol Biol Clin Invest 2014;18:145–9.
- [18] Kawakami N, Takatsuka N, Shimizu H. Sleep disturbance and onset of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2004;27:282–3.
- [19] Knutson KL, Spiegel K, Penev P, Van CE. The metabolic consequences of sleep deprivation. Sleep Med Rev 2007;11:163–78.
- [20] Wolk R, Somers VK. Sleep and the metabolic syndrome. Exp Physiol 2007;92:67–78.
- [21] Lyssenko V, Nagorny CL, Erdos MR, Wierup N, Jonsson A, Spegel P, et al. Common variant in MTNR1B associated with increased risk of type 2 diabetes and impaired early insulin secretion. Nat Genet 2009;41:82–8.
- [22] Peschke E, Bahr I, Muhlbauer E. Melatonin and pancreatic islets interrelationships between melatonin, insulin and glucagon. Int J Mol Sci 2013;14:6981–7015.
- [23] Mazzoccoli G, Pazienza V, Vinciguerra M. Clock genes and clock-controlled genes in the regulation of metabolic rhythms. Chronobiol Int 2012;29:227–51.
- [24] Hastings MH, Brancaccio M, Maywood ES. Circadian pacemaking in cells and circuits of the suprachiasmatic nucleus. J Neuroendocrinol 2014;26:2–10.

- [25] Hirota T, Fukada Y. Resetting mechanism of central and peripheral circadian clocks in mammals. Zool Sci 2004;21:359–68.
- [26] DeBruyne JP, Weaver DR, Reppert SM. Peripheral circadian oscillators require CLOCK. Curr Biol 2007;17:R538–9.
- [27] Fonken LK, Nelson RJ. The effects of light at night on circadian clocks and metabolism. Endocr Rev 2014;35:648– 70. er20131051..
- [28] Yang X, Downes M, Yu RT, Bookout AL, He W, Straume M, et al. Nuclear receptor expression links the circadian clock to metabolism. Cell 2006;126:801–10.
- [29] Buijs RM, Scheer FA, Kreier F, Yi C, Bos N, Goncharuk VD, et al. Organization of circadian functions: interaction with the body. Prog Brain Res 2006;153:341–60.
- [30] la Fleur SE, Kalsbeek A, Wortel J, van d V, Buijs RM. Role for the pineal and melatonin in glucose homeostasis: pinealectomy increases night-time glucose concentrations. J Neuroendocrinol 2001;13:1025–32.
- [31] Coomans CP, van den Berg SA, Lucassen EA, Houben T, Pronk AC, van der Spek RD, et al. The suprachiasmatic nucleus controls circadian energy metabolism and hepatic insulin sensitivity. Diabetes 2013;62:1102–8.
- [32] Turek FW, Joshu C, Kohsaka A, Lin E, Ivanova G, McDearmon E, et al. Obesity and metabolic syndrome in circadian Clock mutant mice. Science 2005;308:1043–5.
- [33] Rudic RD, McNamara P, Curtis AM, Boston RC, Panda S, Hogenesch JB, et al. BMAL1 and CLOCK, two essential components of the circadian clock, are involved in glucose homeostasis. PLoS Biol 2004;2:e377.
- [34] Yang S, Liu A, Weidenhammer A, Cooksey RC, McClain D, Kim MK, et al. The role of mPer2 clock gene in glucocorticoid and feeding rhythms. Endocrinology 2009;150:2153–60.
- [35] Marcheva B, Ramsey KM, Buhr ED, Kobayashi Y, Su H, Ko CH, et al. Disruption of the clock components CLOCK and BMAL1 leads to hypoinsulinaemia and diabetes. Nature 2010;466:627–31.
- [36] Shimba S, Ogawa T, Hitosugi S, Ichihashi Y, Nakadaira Y, Kobayashi M, et al. Deficient of a clock gene, brain and muscle Arnt-like protein-1 (BMAL1), induces dyslipidemia and ectopic fat formation. PLoS One 2011;6:e25231.
- [37] Costa MJ, So AY, Kaasik K, Krueger KC, Pillsbury ML, Fu YH, et al. Circadian rhythm gene period 3 is an inhibitor of the adipocyte cell fate. J Biol Chem 2011;286:9063–70.
- [38] Bugge A, Feng D, Everett LJ, Briggs ER, Mullican SE, Wang F, et al. Rev-erbalpha and Rev-erbbeta coordinately protect the circadian clock and normal metabolic function. Genes Dev 2012;26:657–67.
- [39] Cho H, Zhao X, Hatori M, Yu RT, Barish GD, Lam MT, et al. Regulation of circadian behaviour and metabolism by REV-ERB-alpha and REV-ERB-beta. Nature 2012;485:123–7.
- [40] Shimba S, Ishii N, Ohta Y, Ohno T, Watabe Y, Hayashi M, et al. Brain and muscle Arnt-like protein-1 (BMAL1), a component of the molecular clock, regulates adipogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102:12071–6.
- [41] Lamia KA, Papp SJ, Yu RT, Barish GD, Uhlenhaut NH, Jonker JW, et al. Cryptochromes mediate rhythmic repression of the glucocorticoid receptor. Nature 2011;480:552–6.
- [42] Dallmann R, Weaver DR. Altered body mass regulation in male *mPeriod* mutant mice on high-fat diet. Chronobiol Int 2010;27:1317–28.
- [43] So AYL, Bernal TU, Pillsbury ML, Yamamoto KR, Feldman BJ. Glucocorticoid regulation of the circadian clock modulates glucose homeostasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:17582–7.
- [44] Scheen AJ, Byrne MM, Plat L, Leproult R, Van CE. Relationships between sleep quality and glucose regulation in normal humans. Am J Physiol 1996;271:E261–70.

- [45] Ramsey KM, Bass J. Obeying the clock yields benefits for metabolism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:4069–70.
- [46] Stokkan KA, Yamazaki S, Tei H, Sakaki Y, Menaker M. Entrainment of the circadian clock in the liver by feeding. Science 2001;291:490–3.
- [47] Feillet CA. Food for thoughts: feeding time and hormonal secretion. J Neuroendocrinol 2010;22:620–8.
- [48] Wu T, ZhuGe F, Sun L, Ni Y, Fu O, Gao G, et al. Enhanced effect of daytime restricted feeding on the circadian rhythm of streptozotocin-induced type 2 diabetic rats. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2012;302:E1027–35.
- [49] Kohsaka A, Laposky AD, Ramsey KM, Estrada C, Joshu C, Kobayashi Y, et al. High-fat diet disrupts behavioral and molecular circadian rhythms in mice. Cell Metab 2007;6:414–21.
- [50] Hatori M, Vollmers C, Zarrinpar A, DiTacchio L, Bushong EA, Gill S, et al. Time-restricted feeding without reducing caloric intake prevents metabolic diseases in mice fed a high-fat diet. Cell Metab 2012;15:848–60.
- [51] Fonken LK, Workman JL, Walton JC, Weil ZM, Morris JS, Haim A, et al. Light at night increases body mass by shifting the time of food intake. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107:18664–9.
- [52] Cardinali DP, Cano P, Jimenez-Ortega V, Esquifino AI. Melatonin and the metabolic syndrome. Physiopathologic and therapeutical implications. Neuroendocrinology 2011;93:133–42.
- [53] Lazar MA. How obesity causes diabetes: not a tall tale. Science 2005;307:373–5.
- [54] Polonsky KS. The past 200 years in diabetes. N Engl J Med 2012;367:1332–40.
- [55] Kelly MA, Rees SD, Hydrie MZ, Shera AS, Bellary S, O'Hare JP, et al. Circadian gene variants and susceptibility to type 2 diabetes: a pilot study. PLoS One 2012;7:e32670.
- [56] Woon PY, Kaisaki PJ, Braganca J, Bihoreau MT, Levy JC, Farrall M, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator-like (BMAL1) is associated with susceptibility to hypertension and type 2 diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:14412–7.
- [57] Sookoian S, Gemma C, Gianotti TF, Burgueno A, Castano G, Pirola CJ. Genetic variants of Clock transcription factor are associated with individual susceptibility to obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 2008;87:1606–15.
- [58] Scott EM, Carter AM, Grant PJ. Association between polymorphisms in the Clock gene, obesity and the metabolic syndrome in man. Int J Obes (Lond) 2008;32:658– 62.
- [59] Monteleone P, Tortorella A, Docimo L, Maldonato MN, Canestrelli B, De LL, et al. Investigation of 3111T/C polymorphism of the CLOCK gene in obese individuals with or without binge eating disorder: association with higher body mass index. Neurosci Lett 2008;435:30–3.
- [60] Garaulet M, Corbalan MD, Madrid JA, Morales E, Baraza JC, Lee YC, et al. CLOCK gene is implicated in weight reduction in obese patients participating in a dietary programme based on the Mediterranean diet. Int J Obes (Lond) 2010;34:516–23.
- [61] Bostwick J, Nguyen D, Cornelissen G, Halberg F, Hoogerwerf WA. Effects of acute and chronic STZ-induced diabetes on clock gene expression and feeding in the gastrointestinal tract. Mol Cell Biochem 2010;338:203–13.
- [62] Wu T, ZhuGe F, Zhu Y, Wang N, Jiang Q, Fu H, et al. Effects of light on the circadian rhythm of diabetic rats under restricted feeding. J Physiol Biochem 2014;70:61–71.
- [63] Stamenkovic JA, Olsson AH, Nagorny CL, Malmgren S, kker-Nitert M, Ling C, et al. Regulation of core clock genes in human islets. Metabolism 2012;61:978–85.
- [64] Hirota T, Okano T, Kokame K, Shirotani-Ikejima H, Miyata T, Fukada Y. Glucose down-regulates Per1 and Per2 mRNA

levels and induces circadian gene expression in cultured Rat-1 fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 2002;277:44244–51.

- [65] Pandi-Perumal SR, Srinivasan V, Maestroni GJM, Cardinali DP, Poeggeler B, Hardeland R. Melatonin Nature's most versatile biological signal? FEBS J 2006;273:2813–38.
- [66] Reiter RJ, Rosales-Corral S, Coto-Montes A, Boga JA, Tan DX, Davis JM, et al. The photoperiod, circadian regulation and chronodisruption: the requisite interplay between the suprachiasmatic nuclei and the pineal and gut melatonin. J Physiol Pharmacol 2011;62:269–74.
- [67] Gooley JJ, Chamberlain K, Smith KA, Khalsa SB, Rajaratnam SM, Van RE, et al. Exposure to room light before bedtime suppresses melatonin onset and shortens melatonin duration in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011; 96:E463–72.
- [68] Reiter RJ, Tan DX, Korkmaz A, Ma S. Obesity and metabolic syndrome: association with chronodisruption, sleep deprivation, and melatonin suppression. Ann Med 2012;44:564–77.
- [69] Boden G, Ruiz J, Urbain JL, Chen X. Evidence for a circadian rhythm of insulin secretion. Am J Physiol 1996;271:E246–52.
- [70] Boden G, Chen X, Urbain JL. Evidence for a circadian rhythm of insulin sensitivity in patients with NIDDM caused by cyclic changes in hepatic glucose production. Diabetes 1996;45:1044–50.
- [71] Peschke E, Peschke D, Hammer T, Csernus V. Influence of melatonin and serotonin on glucose-stimulated insulin release from perifused rat pancreatic islets in vitro. J Pineal Res 1997;23:156–63.
- [72] Tutuncu NB, Batur MK, Yildirir A, Tutuncu T, Deger A, Koray Z, et al. Melatonin levels decrease in type 2 diabetic patients with cardiac autonomic neuropathy. J Pineal Res 2005;39:43–9.
- [73] Bouatia-Naji N, Bonnefond A, Cavalcanti-Proenca C, Sparso T, Holmkvist J, Marchand M, et al. A variant near MTNR1B is associated with increased fasting plasma glucose levels and type 2 diabetes risk. Nat Genet 2009;41:89–94.
- [74] Bonnefond A, Clement N, Fawcett K, Yengo L, Vaillant E, Guillaume JL, et al. Rare MTNR1B variants impairing melatonin receptor 1B function contribute to type 2 diabetes. Nat Genet 2012;44:297–301.
- [75] Waldhauser F, Vierhapper H, Pirich K. Abnormal circadian melatonin secretion in night-shift workers. N Engl J Med 1986;315:1614.
- [76] Sack RL, Blood ML, Lewy AJ. Melatonin rhythms in night shift workers. Sleep 1992;15:434–41.
- [77] Um JH, Yang S, Yamazaki S, Kang H, Viollet B, Foretz M, et al. Activation of 5?-AMP-activated kinase with diabetes drug metformin induces casein kinase Iepsilon (CKIepsilon)-dependent degradation of clock protein mPer2. J Biol Chem 2007;282:20794–8.
- [78] Lefterova MI, Zhang Y, Steger DJ, Schupp M, Schug J, Cristancho A, et al. PPAR gamma and C/EBP factors orchestrate adipocyte biology via adjacent binding on a genome-wide scale. Genes Dev 2008;22:2941–52.
- [79] Marcheva B, Ramsey KM, Bass J. Circadian genes and insulin exocytosis. Cell Logist 2011;1:32–6.
- [80] Garaulet M, Madrid JA. Chronobiology, genetics and metabolic syndrome. Curr Opin Lipidol 2009;20:127–34.
- [81] Szosland D. Shift work and metabolic syndrome, diabetes mellitus and ischaemic heart disease. Int J Occup Med Environ Health 2010;23:287–91.
- [82] Cailotto C, Lei J, van d V, Van HC, van Eden CG, Kalsbeek A, et al. Effects of nocturnal light on (clock) gene expression in peripheral organs: a role for the autonomic innervation of the liver. PLoS One 2009;4:e5650.
- [83] Arendt J, Skene DJ. Melatonin as a chronobiotic. Sleep Med Rev 2005;9:25–39.

- [84] Cardinali DP, Furio AM, Reyes MP. Clinical perspectives for the use of melatonin as a chronobiotic-cytoprotective agent. Ann NY Acad Sci 2005;1057:327–36.
- [85] Touitou Y, Bogdan A. Promoting adjustment of the sleepwake cycle by chronobiotics. Physiol Behav 2007;90:294–300.
- [86] Cardinali DP, Pagano ES, Scacchi PA, Reynoso R, Scacchi P. Disrupted chronobiology of sleep and cytoprotection in obesity: possible therapeutic value of melatonin. Neuroendocrinol Lett 2011;32:588–606.
- [87] Tan DX, Manchester LC, Fuentes-Broto L, Paredes SD, Reiter RJ. Significance and application of melatonin in the regulation of brown adipose tissue metabolism: relation to human obesity. Obes Rev 2011;12:167–88.
- [88] Kozirog M, Poliwczak AR, Duchnowicz P, Koter-Michalak M, Sikora J, Broncel M. Melatonin treatment improves blood pressure, lipid profile, and parameters of oxidative stress in patients with metabolic syndrome. J Pineal Res 2011;50:261–6.
- [89] Gonciarz M, Bielanski W, Partyka R, Brzozowski T, Konturek PC, Eszyk J, et al. Plasma insulin, leptin, adiponectin, resistin, ghrelin, and melatonin in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis patients treated with melatonin. J Pineal Res 2013;54:154–61.
- [90] Gonciarz M, Gonciarz Z, Bielanski W, Mularczyk A, Konturek PC, Brzozowski T, et al. The effects of long-term melatonin treatment on plasma liver enzymes levels and

plasma concentrations of lipids and melatonin in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: a pilot study. J Physiol Pharmacol 2012;63:35–40.

- [91] Gonciarz M, Gonciarz Z, Bielanski W, Mularczyk A, Konturek PC, Brzozowski T, et al. The pilot study of 3month course of melatonin treatment of patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: effect on plasma levels of liver enzymes, lipids and melatonin. J Physiol Pharmacol 2010;61:705–10.
- [92] Romo-Nava F, Alvarez-Icaza GD, Fresan-Orellana A, Saracco AR, Becerra-Palars C, Moreno J, et al. Melatonin attenuates antipsychotic metabolic effects: an eight-week randomized, double-blind, parallel-group, placebocontrolled clinical trial. Bipolar Disord 2014;16:410–21.
- [93] Modabbernia A, Heidari P, Soleimani R, Sobhani A, Roshan ZA, Taslimi S, et al. Melatonin for prevention of metabolic side-effects of olanzapine in patients with first-episode schizophrenia: randomized double-blind placebocontrolled study. J Psychiatr Res 2014;53:133–40.
- [94] Cardinali DP, Srinivasan V, Brzezinski A, Brown GM. Melatonin and its analogs in insomnia and depression. J Pineal Res 2012;52:365–75.
- [95] Weishaupt JH, Bartels C, Polking E, Dietrich J, Rohde G, Poeggeler B, et al. Reduced oxidative damage in ALS by high-dose enteral melatonin treatment. J Pineal Res 2006;41:313–23.